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President
As President of the Bendigo District RSL Sub-Branch, I cannot
be prouder of our members, our staff and our volunteers.
Although prior years have been very successful, 2019 definitely
stands out as one of our best. It all comes down to the people
who immerse themselves into supporting current and exDefence personnel and their immediate family.
I am happy to report that the Sub-Branch has improved in all
aspects of the RSL. Veteran welfare and support, an increase
in our commemorative services and service membership base
and a positive growth along with a good net profit within our
commercial operation, have all shown significant improvements
above expectation.

Centre and Legacy to achieve a common outcome and to share
resources. The Sub-Branch cannot do it alone and must rely on
our partners to support the veterans in various ways.

To support this success, the Bendigo District RSL Sub-Branch

In November 2019 we reached the 12 month milestone for the
re-opening of the Soldiers Memorial Institute Military Museum
(SMIMM). Over the last 12 months we have seen various
exhibitions and at all levels, there has been nothing but praise
and a “well done” for all the hard work of both the museum
staff and our fantastic volunteers. Additionally, I would like
to acknowledge Paul Penno and Kirsten McKay and all the
members of the SMIMM Sub-Committee who have worked
hard to improve the overall experience.

has continually monitored its business practices and goals. Our
strategic goals remain the same:
1. Support all veterans, those serving and ex-service
personnel of the ADF and their immediate dependents
with the available welfare resources of the BDRSL.
2. Commemorate the commitment and sacrifice of all
those who have served.
3. Operate and maintain a corporately responsible
business model to ensure the ongoing economic and
social wellbeing of the BDRSL.

One of the highlights for me, and there were so many, was
the RSL Hall of Fame Licensed Sub-Branch of the Year 2019
award. This recognition was the acknowledgement of all the
hard work everyone had contributed. It also solidified that the
Sub-Branch is heading in the right direction and making the
right decisions. We, as a Sub-Branch should be so proud of the
effort and dedication that every single person involved has put
in. This is a team recognition.

In 2019 the Bendigo District RSL Sub-Branch spent a total
of $765,950 in directly supporting our veterans and their
immediate family. This significant amount of members’ money
demonstrates the Sub-Branch’s commitment to changing the
lives of our local veterans and immediate family for the better.
Take the time to read the Welfare & Charitable Report to fully
understand the type and amount of support the Sub-Branch
is providing.

To all our volunteers who dedicated their time - thank you.
Without your support we could not have achieved so much
in 2019. Our total volunteer hours for 2019 was 9283 which
was less than 2018 and I take this opportunity to remind all
volunteers that it is very important to register their hours.

In April 2019 we introduced our Health & Wellbeing Officer who
immediately set out to develop the role and all the different
programmes that enhanced the health and wellbeing of our
veterans. The success of this was due to the collaborating
workforce and volunteers including our partners, the Bendigo
Sub-Branch of the Vietnam Veterans and our very own RSL
Sheds Programme. Since the introduction, I am pleased to say
the Sub-Branch has directly supported 199 veterans and their
immediate family. The demand for veteran support in December
2019 increased significantly, as expected, but was well beyond
our expectation and demonstrates the need of ongoing support
particularly at Christmas time. The Bendigo District RSL SubBranch was there to assist.

To our General Manager, Martin Beekes and staff - you are all an
integral part of this Sub-Branch. You consistently demonstrate
loyalty and commitment. Well done and thank you.
In closing I would like to take this opportunity to thank all those
who have supported me throughout the year especially the
Sub-Branch Committee who continue to drive the BDRSL into
the future. There will be challenges but I am very confident we
have the right people to drive this magnificent RSL. Foremost
I would like to thank my wife Jacinta who has supported me
throughout this journey. Your support is what keeps me going.
Lest we Forget

With the more and more complex needs of our veterans, the
Bendigo District RSL Sub-Branch worked closely with our
partners like Carry On, Central Victorian Veterans Support

Peter Swandale
President
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General Manager
An enormous year was achieved at the Bendigo District
RSL Sub-Branch which grew in leaps and bounds after the
successful renovations that were completed in late 2018.
Our successes encompass the following:
•

First year operation, post-renovation of the Soldiers
Memorial Institute Military Museum

•

Highest Membership on record

•

Highest Food Sales on record

•

Highest Beverage Sales on record

•

Highest TAB Turnover on record

•

Highest Keno Sales on record

Website was redeveloped and is now better than ever. The

•

Highest Gaming Turnover on record

Bendigo RSL APP now has over 2000 downloads and is

•

Awarded the RSL Hall of Fame Licensed Sub-Branch of

first car – Hyundai i30 Hatch which proved to be a very
successful campaign for the BDRSL.
As a result of feedback from our members, the BDRSL

available free for download onto your smart device from both
the Google Store and iTunes. Don’t forget to play ‘Pick a

the Year

Bushmaster’ to see if you can win any discounts or freebies!

•

Awarded Community Clubs Victoria (CCV) TAB of the Year

•

Awarded CCV Community Support Project of the year

$25K and many thanks to the workers who endured some

for the SMIMM’s involvement in Bendigo’s White Night

very hot and trying conditions. The BDRSL social tennis

celebration

players chose the colours and the courts look a million dollars

The tennis courts were repaired and resurfaced at a cost of

now - ready for the next Australian Open! We will promote

The BDRSL also completed a kitchen renovation at a cost

them heavily and hopefully in 2020 more people will use our

of $132K. This was undertaken because of the need to lay

courts and once again establish a competition team.

new flooring to comply with OH&S. During this project, the
opportunity was taken to re-design the kitchen layout and

The BDRSL employed a Health & Wellbeing Officer in 2019

introduce two-tiered heated shelving and a Combi Oven. This

and through his engagement with our veterans in the Welfare

has provided greater workflow and increased output capacity

/ Outreach programmes already in operation in the RSL

of meals, particularly when we have functions. For example,

Sheds and the SMIMM, Craig Hancock has implemented

on Swap Meet weekend, we were able to serve a record 795

new and exciting programmes and activities which have been

meals in one sitting. An amazing achievement! With the future

very well attended. As a reflection of the tough times in our

in mind, we also added a 250-amp cable to a new electrical

community, there has been a significant increase in requests

switchboard for the kitchen which enables us to power future

for support by veterans. Craig has formulated new links with

growth / renovations.

local health providers, allowing for a better referral system

During 2019 as a post-renovation celebration, we conducted

which is helping the veterans in need within Central Victoria

a major television and radio promotion and gave away our

and abroad.

Year

Life Member

Service

Affiliate

Associate

Social

Community

Financial

2013

1

668

254

2

3,359

0

4,283

2014

1

655

287

0

4,556

10

5,521

2015

5

685

366

0

4,959

166

6,190

2016

6

699

418

0

5,275

17

6,423

2017

6

746

523

0

5,664

15

6,961

2018

8

799

590

0

5,885

7

7,295

2019

9

825

666

0

6,362

5

7,872

4

Through the increased patronage and support of our

•

Best Club Parma

•

Best Club Bistro

$243,689 of operational expenses of the SMIMM in 2019. A

•

Best Club with Gaming

healthy result for the BDRSL in a busy and challenging year.

Memberships

Gaming

Our membership continues to grow in all areas. A stunning

In August, the BDRSL made the final payment to the

result. The car giveaway we did last year was a big reason

VCGLR of our current 10-year contracted period for gaming

for the increase along with the rise in venue activities and

entitlements. We also paid the second 2.5% deposit

promotions.

instalment to the Victorian government in February for the

Reflection

members and their guests, I am proud to announce we will
post a record net profit of $467,285 which takes into account

gaming entitlements for the 10 years beyond 16 August

The success of the BDRSL is due to a combination of factors

2022. Currently, we are managing our cash flows well and

- the members who support us, our invaluable employees

have the opportunity to look at our gaming model post 2022.

who have worked tirelessly keeping both the club and the

The opportunity to manage and control gaming in the BDRSL

SMIMM operating efficiently with an everlasting smile despite

beyond 2022 will be made in the coming 12 months. Through

how busy they have been and lastly, the volunteers. The

exhaustive investigation, the committee will decide if we

generosity of your time is greatly appreciated.

continue using a leasing model with TGS or own and operate
our own floor of gaming machines.

I thank every employee as I believe they have excelled
this year, helping the BDRSL to reach heights we only

Awards

ever dreamed of. It is really pleasing to read the positive

The BDRSL was well represented at the annual RSL Hall

comments from members, their guests and those from the

of Fame Awards Ceremony held at the Regent Theatre in

general public on the report cards and the various social

November and we were awarded RSL Licensed Sub-Branch

media platforms about the great club facilities that we have,

of the Year. The following employees received Achievement

the engaging memorabilia garden, the fabulous SMIMM, the

& Recognition Awards:

wonderful food, the local beers on tap and of course the

•

Travis Duffy – Head Chef

amazing customer service.

•

Wendy Abley – Administration Supervisor

I would like to thank the BDRSL committee for their support

•

Leigh Lewis – Functions Manager

and direction during 2019 and I look forward to the BDRSL
continuing to be a leader of hospitality, entertainment and

Congratulations to the team for being recognised so many

also a pillar of welfare and community support in 2020.

times at the annual Community Clubs Victoria Awards night in

Finally, I would like to thank my management team: Mary,

Melbourne. Just to be a finalist is considered an honour and

Chris, Travis, Graeme, Trevor, Leigh, Linda, Andrew, Alecia,

we were finalists in 10 categories.

Kirsten, Stella, Hannah, Dianne, Janet and Dean for your

The BDRSL was recognised with the following awards in

commitment and your contribution to the success in 2019.

2019:
•

Best Community Support Project

•

Best Club TAB

Martin Beekes
General Manager

The BDRSL was also a finalist in the following categories:
•

Best Environmental Sustainability Project

•

Best Club Renovation.

•

Young Employee of the Year – Lincoln Cottingham

•

Club employee of the Year – Alecia Mason

•

Club Chef of the Year – Travis Duffy
5
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Treasurer
The BDRSL Sub-Branch Committee and I are again very pleased
to present another positive financial result for the Bendigo
District RSL Sub-Branch Inc. It seems that every year we are
stating this, however the generous support of the Bendigo
and District community means that the BDRSL commercial
operations continue to go from strength to strength, allowing
us to continue to expand our welfare support to veterans.
In 2019 we have been able to record a $467K surplus, up from
$77K in 2018. It is particularly pleasing considering this is the
first full year of operation since the facility refurbishment, the

The BDRSL has introduced many innovations and initiatives

second, but first full year of Soldiers Memorial Institute Military

throughout the year, making the BDRSL a fun, family friendly

Museum (SMIMM) operations and the first year of the Veteran

and exciting place to be, all contributing to the 2019 financial

Health & Wellbeing program.

success. Initiatives include a Hyundai car giveaway, Friday

In mid-2018 the BDRSL underwent a significant renovation

Night Family Night, Little Troopers morning teas, paired food
and beverage dinners, a redeveloped website, a smartphone

which substantially impacted our operations for a three-month
period including the temporary closure of the gaming room,

application and the twilight market.

reduced seating in the bistro and limited function capacity.

A significant milestone was achieved in 2019 with the final

These impediments resulted in a significant downturn in

payment towards our gaming machine entitlements falling due.

patronage during this period, however in 2019 the BDRSL

Gaming entitlements allow the BDRSL to operate our gaming

commercial operations exceeded all expectations.

machines and drive a large contribution towards profits and the

The reopening of the renovated gaming room, the introduction

Sub-Branch’s ability to increase expenditure towards veterans.
During the year, the final $156K was paid towards our gaming

of the children’s play area in the bistro and the new modernised
entrance, along with the continued focus on providing a positive

entitlements, creating an annual ongoing saving of $216K.

member and guest experience, resulted in revenue growth

Category

of $1.5M to $12.7M. This growth in revenue has resulted in a

2019

2018

2017

2016

2015

Gross profit margin

67.8% 58.6% 59.7% 58.9% 58.3%

from a $0.3M surplus in 2018. This very positive result has

Net profit margin

3.7%

translated into a $0.38M cash inflow resulting in cash holdings

EBITDA Margin

surplus $1.59M before depreciation, increasing substantially

growing in excess of $1M at 31 December 2019.
Service

0.7%

1.8%

3.2%

4.7%

13.72% 2.7%

3.8%

5.3%

6.9%

Salaries to Revenue 27.6% 28.0% 27.7% 28.6% 28.1%

2019
$’M

2018
$’M

The strong financial successes of the BDRSL in recent years,

Gaming

$7.81

$6.93

have allowed the committee to drive further growth in veteran

Bistro

$2.86

$2.46

services and support. Over the past 18 month period, the

Bar

$1.56

$1.37

BDRSL Sub-Committee has overseen the Soldiers Memorial

Sundry Income

$0.50

$0.43

Institute Military Museum construction, renovation, fit out and

$12.73

$11.19

Total

reopening in November 2018, introduced the BDRSL Health
& Wellbeing program, including the employment of a Health &
Wellbeing Officer and the RSL Sheds program night sessions.

Due to the continued high-quality service, new look facilities

These programs and other smaller veteran initiatives come

and presentation and quality of the meals, all service revenue

at a financial cost to the BDRSL however due to the strong

has exceeded expectations. Patronage increased throughout

commercial successes and commitment by the BDRSL’s

the venue and this resulted in the kitchen being the busiest in

underpinning object to supporting veterans, we have been able

the history of the facility, serving 186,895 meals for the year,

to instigate these without significant financial impact to the

equating to an average of 3,594 meals per week. Much of our

bottom line of the BDRSL. In 2019, the Sub-Branch maintained

success can be attributed to the gaming room upgrade as well

its expenditure on Welfare & Charitable activities, expending

as other smaller improvements throughout the venue, making

$766K which includes community, veteran & SMIMM expenses

it not only one of the most popular in Bendigo but also across

for the full year.

Victoria.
6

This was the first full year of SMIMM operations after a very long-

The Building Patriotic Fund 3320 is responsible for holding

term capital project undertaken by the BDRSL in partnership

the building assets for the Sub-Branch. This has resulted in

with the City of Greater Bendigo. It was extremely satisfying that

property plant and equipment to the value of $11.3M, offset by

after this long-term operational impact, it became operational in

borrowings against those assets of $5.6M.

November 2018. The Sub-Branch had always acknowledged

Agency for General Appeals Patriotic Fund B86

that the SMIMM would initially come at a cost, however the

Income for the General Appeals Patriotic Fund B86 for 2019

opportunities it affords our veterans and community benefits

was $120,487 an increase of $3,170 on the previous year. The

outweighs this. In 2019 the SMIMM generated income of $95K

income deposited into this account is largely generated by the

including $48K of entry fees however, incurred expenditure of

ANZAC and Poppy Appeals.

$256K.

Total expenditure from the Agency account during the year

This year the BDRSL has again fulfilled its Welfare & Charitable

was $120,544. Included in this expenditure are payments to

expenditure obligations under the Deed of Agreement with the

ANZAC house totaling $59,718. The remaining expenditure is

Australian Taxation Office and has exceeded its expectations

utilised by the Sub- Branch through the Welfare & Charitable

and has increased its expenditure from $713K in 2018 to $766K

Sub-Committee in accordance with the Veterans Act 2005

in 2019.

Regulations. These expenses include veteran expenses for

Due to a change in accounting policy issued by the Australian

emergency accommodation, funerals, health, medical and

Accounting Standards Board, the standard now requires

financial assistance. The auditing of the Welfare Patriotic Fund

recognition of leased assets and lease obligations. This has

is coordinated by ANZAC House.

resulted in assets growing by $2.56M, however liabilities

Bissett Estate Welfare Patriotic Fund W484

have also grown by $2.09M, finishing at $8.74M and $6.33M

During 2019 a distribution from the Trustees of the Estate of

respectively.

$13,076 towards the Bissett Estate Welfare Patriotic Fund was

Bendigo District RSL continues to establish a strong financial

receipted. This was the only income received during the year.

position, growing its net assets to $2.41M, which will allow
us to approach the many new veteran welfare initiatives and

Due to the tight expenditure restrictions placed on this fund, the

operational challenges in 2020 with confidence.

BDRSL has difficulty finding suitable recipients in accordance
with the bequest stipulations however during the year the

On 16 March Premier Andrews declared a Victorian State of

BDRSL was able to provide $3,815 of welfare assistance from

Emergency in response to the COVID-19 outbreak starting from

this fund.

midday. The Chief Health Officer, under the powers delegated
to him, subsequently mandated a lockdown, from midday on

The end of year balance in the Bissett Estate Welfare Patriotic

23 March and the BDRSL immediately closed its doors and

Fund was $27,152.

temporarily ceased its operations under this direction. This has

Welfare Patriotic Fund W75

caused a significant interruption to the commercial operations,

There were no income and expenditure transactions in the

which has also impacted the welfare and health and wellbeing

Welfare Patriotic Fund W75 during 2019

programs. However, due to the strong financial position,
committee and staff commitment and robust planning, the

The final balance of the W75 account at 31 December 2019

BDRSL is very confident of continuing to meet its veteran

remains at $5,593.

welfare obligations during this period. Within the financial

On behalf of the BDRSL Sub-Committee, I would like to thank

statements, please refer to Note 1 – Going Concern and Note

all the staff for their tireless effort, particularly, Chief Financial

19 – Subsequent Events for further information regarding the

Officer, Mary Hartley and Accounts Officer, Wendy Abley

financial and operational impacts.

for their very passionate contribution towards the financial

Havilah Road Building Patriotic Fund 3320

operations of the BDRSL.

In 2019 the Building Patriotic Fund 3320 received income of

Finally, I would like to acknowledge the work of David Paynter,

$781K in the form of rent for the facility from the commercial

for this work over the past 12 months and keeping the seat

operations. These payments are required to fund any capital

warm for my return in April 2019.

purchases, building and property repairs and borrowing

Shane Robinson

repayments.

Treasurer
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Bendigo District RSL Sub Branch Inc
Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

Note

2019
$

2018
$

Sales

2

12,723,767

11,184,178

Cost of sales

3

(4,101,459)

(4,630,156)

8,622,308

6,554,022

1,616

5,163

Gross profit
Other income

2

Administration expense

(579,609)

(387,332)

Advertising and promotion costs

(484,882)

(384,958)

Depreciation and amortisation expense

3

(1,128,663)

(225,798)

Finance costs

3

(150,532)

(2,981)

Occupancy and associated costs

(1,402,708)

(1,343,732)

Salaries and employee benefits expense

(3,514,827)

(3,133,037)

Welfare and charitable expenses

(476,447)

(483,568)

Other expenses

(418,971)

(521,211)

Surplus before income tax expense

467,285

76,568

Income tax expense

1(b)

Surplus after income tax expense

‐
467,285

Other comprehensive income

‐

Total comprehensive income for the year

467,285

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
9
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76,568
‐
76,568
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Bendigo District RSL Sub Branch Inc
Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2019

Note

2019
$

2018
$

Current assets
4
5
6

Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables
Inventories
Total current assets

1,053,653
2,280
66,097

672,880
3,727
62,414

1,122,030

739,021

1,349,626
‐
2,383,366
3,889,328

1,199,626
131,129
‐
4,111,102

7,622,320
8,744,350

5,441,857
6,180,878

427,305
‐
893,745
184,619

490,634
266,054
‐
155,225

1,505,669

911,913

3,142,407
1,557,287
124,223

3,245,946
‐
74,934

4,823,917
6,329,586
2,414,764

3,320,880
4,232,793
1,948,085

2,414,764

1,948,085

2,414,764

1,948,085

Non‐current assets
5
7
8
9

Trade and other receivables
Property, plant and equipment
Right‐of‐use assets
Intangible assets
Total non‐current assets
Total assets
Current liabilities

10
11
12
13

Trade and other payables
Financial liabilities
Lease liabilities
Provisions
Total current liabilities
Non‐current liabilities

11
12
13

Financial liabilities
Lease liabilities
Provisions
Total non‐current liabilities
Total liabilities
Net assets
Equity
Retained surplus
Total equity

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
10
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Bendigo District RSL Sub Branch Inc
Statement of Changes in Equity
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

Note
Balance at 1 January 2018
Surplus for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year

Retained
surplus
$

Total
equity
$

1,871,517

1,871,517

76,568

76,568

‐

‐

Balance at 31 December 2018

1,948,085

1,948,085

Balance at 1 January 2019

1,948,085

1,948,085

(606)

(606)

Cumulative adjustment of retrospective restatement

1 (r)

Restated balance at 1 January 2019
Surplus for the year
Other comprehensive income for the year

1,947,479

1,947,479

467,285

467,285

‐

Balance at 31 December 2019

2,414,764

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
11

‐
2,414,764
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Bendigo District RSL Sub Branch Inc
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

Note

2019
$

2018
$

Cash flows from operating activities
13,972,184
(11,421,916)
(781,325)
(10,961)
1,616
(150,532)

Receipts from customers
Payments to suppliers and employees
Variable lease payments excluded from lease liability measurement
Short‐term and low‐value lease payments
Interest received
Finance costs
Net cash provided by operating activities

15

1,609,066

12,284,802
(11,983,944)
‐
‐
5,163
(2,981)
303,040

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of gaming machine entitlements
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Loan provided to related entity
Net cash used in investing activities

‐
‐
(150,000)

(82,695)
(135,051)
(300,000)

(150,000)

(517,746)

(708,700)
(369,593)
‐

‐
(215,501)
130,548

(1,078,293)
380,773
672,880
1,053,653

(84,953)
(299,659)
972,539
672,880

Cash flows from financing activities
Payment of principal elements of lease payments
Repayments of gaming machine entitlement borrowings
Net proceeds from other borrowings
Net cash used in financing activities
Net increase / (decrease) in cash held
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year

4

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements
12
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Bendigo District RSL Sub Branch Inc
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019
Note 1.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The financial statements were authorised for issue on 8 May 2020 by the committee.
Basis of preparation
The Bendigo District RSL Sub Branch Inc. applies Australian Accounting Standards ‐ Reduced Disclosure Requirements as set
out in AASB 1053: Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards.
The financial statements are general purpose financial statements that have been prepared in accordance with Australian
Accounting Standards ‐ Reduced Disclosure Requirements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board and with the
Australian Charities and Not‐for‐profits Commission Act 2012. The association is a not‐for‐profit entity for financial reporting
purposes under Australian Accounting Standards.
Australian Accounting Standards set out accounting policies that the AASB has concluded would result in financial statements
containing relevant and reliable information about transactions, events and conditions. Material accounting policies adopted
in the preparation of the financial statements are presented below and have been consistently applied unless otherwise
stated.
The financial statements, except for the cash flow information, have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on
historical costs, modified, where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non‐current assets, financial assets
and financial liabilities. The amounts presented in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest dollar.
Going concern
At 31 December 2019 the association has a net working capital deficiency, with current liabilities of $1,505,669 being greater
than current assets of $1,122,030.
The net working capital deficiency at 31 December 2019 has been made more apparent following the association's adoption
of AASB 16 Leases on 1 January 2019, which decreased the association's available working capital by $839,828 at 1 January
2019 and $893,745 at 31 December 2019:

Presented on
31 December
2018
$

Application
impact
$

Recorded at 1
January 2019
$

Adjustment
for year
e nd e d 3 1
December
2019
$

Recorded at
31 December
2019
$

Assets:
NON‐CURRENT
Right‐of‐use assets

‐

3,290,254

3,290,254

(906,888)

2,383,366

CURRENT
Lease liabilities

‐

(839,828)

(839,828)

(53,917)

(893,745)

NON‐CURRENT
Lease liabilities

‐

(2,451,032)

(2,451,032)

893,745

(1,557,287)

Decrease in working capital

‐

(839,828)

(839,828)

(53,917)

(893,745)

Liabilities:
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For the Year Ended 31 December 2019
Note 1.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Going concern (continued)
The committee members have considered the factors above in making their assessment of going concern and have noted that
despite the association recording a net working capital deficiency at balance date, the association recorded:
‐ a surplus after income tax expense of $467,285 for the year ended 31 December 2019
‐ net cash inflows from operating activities of $1,609,066 for the year ended 31 December 2019
‐ strong cash reserves of $1,053,653 as at 31 December 2019.
In addition, the association has access to a $120,000 bank overdraft facility at 31 December 2019 which was not used at
balance date. Furthermore, based on cash flow needs, the association enters into an annual negotiation with the Bendigo,
Eaglehawk and Kangaroo Flat RSL Sub‐Branches Havilah Road Building Patriotic Fund No. 3320 to determine the cost of
renting its premises for the next 12 months. The annual rental charge, which is approved by ANZAC House each year, provides
the association with a means to manage its working capital position.
In order to ensure the going concern assumption remains appropriate for the association, the committee has prepared
financial forecasts and projections of the association's cash flows for the foreseeable future. Such projections are based on
facts and circumstances known by the committee at the date of signing the financial report, and therefore include the
expected or known impacts of any significant events that have occurred after the reporting date. Further information
regarding such events is disclosed at Note 19.
The committee have considered the impacts of such subsequent events, which include the global spread of the COVID‐19
Coronavirus from January 2020. The committee reports that the association has and continues to be directly impacted by the
Federal/State Government's Stage 1 social isolation measures introduced on 23 March 2020 in response to the spread of the
COVID‐19 Coronavirus, which forced the immediate indefinite closure of the association's premises to the public until further
notice.
Such measures have had and are expected to continue to have an adverse impact on the association's ability to trade. The
committee has received no confirmation as to when operations can resume at the date of signing this report. Accordingly, the
committee's financial forecasts and projections assume the association will remain in a form of hibernation for the
foreseeable future. Whilst the association's operational revenue and expenditure has decreased significantly as a result, the
association will continue to incur fixed costs and overheads without supplementary income. This means the ability for the
association to manage its cash flow will be critical throughout the indefinite closure and will be subject to regular oversight by
the committee.
To that extent, the committee and management have instituted a range of measures to preserve cash flow and secure
additional finance, which include but are not limited to:
‐ reducing all rent payable to the Bendigo, Eaglehawk and Kangaroo Flat RSL Sub‐Branches Havilah Road Building Patriotic
Fund No. 3320 to nil effective immediately
‐ successfully negotiating with key suppliers to significantly reduce operational costs following the closure of the premises
‐ securing a $250,000 unsecured interest only loan for a 36 month term
‐ obtaining financial assistance under the Federal Government's JobKeeper Payment and Boosting Cash Flow for Employers
programs.
The committee acknowledge the association remains economically dependent on receiving continued support from the
abovementioned key stakeholders for the foreseeable future. The committee has received no indication that such continued
support will not be forthcoming both during and after the period of closure.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Going concern (continued)
The committee do however conclude that the combination of the circumstances above represent material uncertainty which
cast significant doubt upon the association's ability to continue as a going concern for the foreseeable future. Nevertheless,
after making enquiries and considering the circumstances above, with continued support from key stakeholders, the
committee members have a reasonable expectation that the association has adequate resources to pay its debts as and when
they fall due for the foreseeable future. For these reasons, the committee continue to adopt the going concern assumption in
the preparation of the annual financial statements.
Accounting Policies
(a) Revenue
Revenue recognition
The association has applied AASB 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers (AASB 15) and AASB 1058: Income of Not‐for‐
Profit Entities (AASB 1058) using the full retrospective approach of initially applying AASB 15 and AASB 1058. As the adoption
of AASB 15 and AASB 1058 had no material impact on the association's financial statements, there were no adjustments
required in neither the current or previous reporting period.
When the association receives consideration, it assesses whether the contract is enforceable and has sufficiently specific
performance obligations in accordance with AASB 15.
When both these conditions are satisfied, the association:
‐ identifies each performance obligation relating to the grant
‐ recognises a contract liability for its obligations under the agreement
‐ recognises revenue as it satisfies its performance obligations, at the time of which services are rendered.
Where the contract is not enforceable or does not have sufficiently specific performance obligations, the association:
‐ recognises the asset received in accordance with the recognition requirements of other applicable Accounting Standards
(for example AASB 9, AASB 16, AASB 116 and AASB 138);
‐ recognises related amounts (being contributions by owners, lease liability, financial instruments, provisions, revenue or
contract liability arising from a contract with a customer); and
‐ recognises income immediately in profit or loss as the difference between the initial carrying amount of the asset and the
related amount.
This policy applies to the association's revenue streams as detailed below.
Operating Grants, Donations and Bequests
Payment of operating grants, donations and bequests are typically due either at the inception of the contract, or as and when
applicable payment milestones are satisfied, which may occur over the term of the contract. Such contracts do not typically
contain a significant financing component. Where such contracts contain variable consideration, the recognition of such
consideration is constrained to the extent that it is highly probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue will not occur.
Gaming, TAB and Keno revenue
The gaming revenue directly attributable to the association is recognised as the residual value after deducting the return to
customers from the wagering and gaming turnover net of the amounts collected by the association on behalf of Intralot and
the Government. The association recognises only the association's portion of revenue. Revenue is recognised at a point in
time whereby the customer both simultaneously receives and consumes a benefit.
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Note 1.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(a) Revenue (continued)
Bar and Kitchen revenue
Revenue is recognised when the bar and kitchen products are provided to the customer. Revenue is recognised at a point in
time.
Membership revenue
Revenue from membership fees are recognised progressively over the period to which the membership relates, which reflects
when the service is transferred to the customer over time. Membership fees are levied on a financial year basis.
Function revenue
Deposits from functions are recorded as prepaid income within liabilities until the function is held. Revenue is recognised
when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods passes to the buyer and can be measured reliably. Risks and
rewards are considered passed to the buyer at the time the function is held.
Volunteer services
A not‐for‐profit entity may, as an accounting policy choice, elect to recognise volunteer services, if the fair value of those
services can be measured reliably, whether or not the services would have been purchased if they had not been donated. The
association receives volunteer services from members of the community in relation to hospital and home visitations for
Veterans, Veteran transport, welfare officers, pensions officers and various other Veteran support activities. Whilst the
provision of such volunteer services are important to the achievement of the entities objectives, as an accounting policy
choice, the association has elected not to recognise such volunteer contributions as revenue and expenditure within profit or
loss. This election has no impact on the association's surplus or net assets.
Interest income
Interest revenue is recognised on a proportional basis taking into account the interest rates applicable to the financial assets.
Other revenue
Revenue from the rendering of a service is recognised upon the delivery of the service to the customers.
All revenue is recognised net of the amount of Goods and Services Tax (GST).
(b) Income tax
The association has negotiated with the Australian Taxation Office that income tax payable by the association is to be
calculated after taking into account a number of community activities and the provision for capital maintenance. Therefore an
income tax exemption was gained on the basis of the association being a charitable institution under Division 50 of the
Income Tax Assessment Act 1997.
(c) Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to prepare for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are recognised in the statement of comprehensive
income in the period in which they are incurred.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(d) Goods and services tax (GST)
Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of GST, except where the amount of GST incurred is not
recoverable from the Australian Tax Office (ATO).
Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of the amount of GST receivable or payable. The net amount of GST recoverable
from, or payable to, the ATO is included with other receivables or payables in the statement of financial position.
Cash flows are presented on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows arising from investing and financing activities
which are recoverable from, or payable to, the ATO are presented as operating cash flows included in receipts from
customers or payments to suppliers.
(e) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short‐term highly liquid investments
with original maturities of three months or less.
(f)

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables include amounts from customers for goods sold and services performed in the ordinary course of
business. Receivables expected to be collected within 12 months of the end of the reporting period are classified as current
assets. All other receivables are classified as non‐current assets.
(g) Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs are assigned on an average cost basis.
(h) Intangibles
Gaming Machine Entitlements
Gaming machine entitlements are recognised at net present value. The useful life of the asset expires in line with the expiry of
the gaming machine entitlements held. The asset is being amortised on a straight line basis over a ten year period. Refer to
Note 9 for further information regarding the association's gaming machine entitlements.
(i)

Property, plant and equipment

The majority of property, plant and equipment is held by the Building Patriotic Fund, the accounts for which are reported
separately to these financial statements. The rental payable for the use of these facilities is included in Note 3 as rental
expenses on operating leases.
Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment are measured on the cost basis and are therefore carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
accumulated impairment losses. In the event the carrying amount of plant and equipment is greater than its estimated
recoverable amount, the carrying amount is written down immediately to its estimated recoverable amount and impairment
losses are recognised either in profit or loss or as a revaluation decrease if the impairment losses relate to a revalued asset. A
formal assessment of recoverable amount is made when impairment indicators are present (refer to Note 1 (l) for details of
impairment).
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Note 1.
(i)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

The cost of fixed assets constructed within the association includes the cost of material, direct labour, borrowing costs and an
appropriate proportion of fixed and variable overheads.
Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future benefits associated with the item will flow to the association and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the financial period in which they are
incurred.
Depreciation
The depreciable amount of all fixed assets, including buildings and capitalised lease assets, but excluding freehold land, is
depreciated on a straight‐line or diminishing value basis over the asset's useful life commencing from the time the asset is
held ready for use. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of either the unexpired period of the lease or
the estimated useful lives of the improvements.
The depreciation rates used for each class of depreciable assets are:
Class of fixed asset
Plant and equipment

Depreciation rate
20%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.
Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with the carrying amount. These gains or losses are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. When revalued assets are sold, amounts included in the
revaluation surplus relating to that asset are transferred to retained earnings.
(j)

Leases

Lease recognition
The association has applied AASB 16: Leases using the modified retrospective method of initially applying AASB 16 as an
adjustment to the opening balance of equity at 1 January 2019 for previous finance leases, and the simplified retrospective
method where the right of use asset is equal to the lease liability on transition.
Therefore, the comparative information has not been restated and continues to be presented under AASB 117: Leases . The
details of accounting policies under AASB 117 are disclosed separately since they are different from those under AASB 16, and
the impact of those changes is disclosed in Note 1.
In the current reporting period
At inception of a contract, the association assesses if the contract contains or is a lease. If there is a lease present, a right‐of‐
use asset and a corresponding lease liability is recognised by the association where the association is a lessee. However, all
contracts that are classified as short‐term leases (ie a lease with a remaining lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of
low‐value assets (ie fair value less than $10,000) are recognised as an operating expense on a straight‐line basis over the term
of the lease.
Initially, the lease liability is measured at the present value of the lease payments still to be paid at lease commencement
date. The lease payments are discounted at the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined,
the association uses the incremental borrowing rate.
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(j)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability are as follows:
‐ fixed lease payments less any lease incentives
‐ variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the
commencement date
‐ the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees
‐ the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options
‐ lease payments under extension options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options
‐ payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the
lease.
The association is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease payments based on an index or rate, which are not
included in the lease liability until they take effect. When adjustments to lease payments based on an index or rate take
effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against the right‐of‐use asset.
The association's lease of land and buildings from the Building Patriotic Fund contains a variable payment term that is not
linked to an index or rate. Variable payment terms are used for a variety of reasons as it enables the Building Patriotic Fund to
charge the association rent to meet its cash flow needs. Such variable lease payments that depend on the Building Patriotic
Fund's cash flow needs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the condition that triggers those payments
occurs.
A 10% increase in rent charged from the Building Patriotic Fund would increase total lease payments by approximately
$78,000.
The right‐of‐use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability as mentioned above, any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date, as well as any initial direct costs. The subsequent measurement of the
right‐of‐use assets is at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
Right‐of‐use assets are depreciated over the lease term or useful life of the underlying asset, whichever is the shortest. Where
a lease transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right‐of‐use asset reflects that the association
anticipates to exercise a purchase option, the specific asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset.
For leases that have significantly below‐market terms and conditions principally to enable the association to further its
objectives (commonly known as peppercorn/concessionary leases), the association has adopted the temporary relief under
AASB 2018‐8 and measures the right‐of‐use assets at cost on initial recognition.
Each of the association's lease arrangements are for use in the production of supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes.
In the comparative reporting period
Leases of fixed assets, where substantially all the risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of the asset (but not the legal
ownership) are transferred to the entity, are classified as finance leases.
Finance leases are capitalised, recognising an asset and a liability equal to the present value of the minimum lease payments,
including any guaranteed residual values.
Leased assets are depreciated on a straight‐line basis over their estimated useful lives where it is likely that the entity will
obtain ownership of the asset. Lease payments are allocated between the reduction of the lease liability and the lease interest
expense for the period.
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Note 1.
(j)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Leases (continued)

Lease payments for operating leases, where substantially all the risks and benefits remain with the lessor, are recognised as
expenses on a straight‐line basis over the lease term.
Lease incentives under operating leases are recognised as a liability and amortised on a straight‐line basis over the life of the
lease term.
(k) Financial instruments
The association's financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks, receivables, payables, borrowings and lease
liabilities.
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the association becomes a party to the contractual provisions to
the instrument. For financial assets, this is the date that the association commits itself to either the purchase or sale of the
asset (ie trade date accounting is adopted).
Financial instruments (except for trade receivables) are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except where
the instrument is classified "at fair value through profit or loss", in which case transaction costs are expensed to profit or loss
immediately. Where available, quoted prices in an active market are used to determine fair value. In other circumstances,
valuation techniques are adopted.
Trade receivables are initially measured at the transaction price if the trade receivables do not contain a significant financing
component or if the practical expedient was applied as specified in AASB 15.63.
Classification and subsequent measurement
(i)

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating interest
expense in profit or loss over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the internal rate of return of the financial asset or liability, that is, it is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash flows through the expected life of the instrument to the net carrying amount at initial
recognition.
A financial liability cannot be reclassified.
(ii) Financial assets
Financial assets are subsequently measured at amortised cost on the basis of the two primary criteria:
‐ the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset; and
‐ the business model for managing the financial assets.
Derecognition of financial liabilities
A liability is derecognised when it is extinguished (ie when the obligation in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expires).
An exchange of an existing financial liability for a new one with substantially modified terms, or a substantial modification to
the terms of a financial liability, is treated as an extinguishment of the existing liability and recognition of a new financial
liability.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(k) Financial instruments (continued)
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and payable,
including any non‐cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.
Derecognition of financial assets
A financial asset is derecognised when the holder's contractual rights to its cash flows expires, or the asset is transferred in
such a way that all the risks and rewards of ownership are substantially transferred.
All the following criteria need to be satisfied for derecognition of a financial asset:
‐ the right to receive cash flows from the asset has expired or been transferred;
‐ all risk and rewards of ownership of the asset have been substantially transferred; and
‐ the association no longer controls the asset (ie no practical ability to make unilateral decision to sell the asset to a third
party).
On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
Impairment
The association recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on:
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

financial assets that are measured at amortised cost;
lease receivables;
contract assets (eg amount due from customers under construction contracts);
loan commitments that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss; and
financial guarantee contracts that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Expected credit losses are the probability‐weighted estimate of credit losses over the expected life of a financial instrument. A
credit loss is the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due and all cash flows expected to be received, all
discounted at the original effective interest rate of the financial instrument.
The association uses the simplified approach to impairment, as applicable under AASB 9, which is applicable to trade
receivables.
The simplified approach does not require tracking of changes in credit risk at every reporting period, but instead requires the
recognition of lifetime expected credit loss at all times.
In measuring the expected credit loss, a provision matrix for trade receivables is used, taking into consideration various data
to get to an expected credit loss, (ie diversity of its customer base, appropriate groupings of its historical loss experience etc).
The provision for expected credit losses is not considered material to the financial statements.
Recognition of expected credit losses in financial statements
At each reporting date, the association recognises the movement in the loss allowance as an impairment gain or loss in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
The carrying amount of financial assets measured at amortised cost includes the loss allowance relating to that asset.
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Note 1.
(l)

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Impairment of assets

At the end of each reporting period, the association assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If
such an indication exists, an impairment test is carried out on the asset by comparing the recoverable amount of the asset,
being the higher of the asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use, to the asset's carrying amount. Any excess of the
asset's carrying amount over its recoverable amount is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the asset is carried at a
revalued amount in accordance with another Standard (eg in accordance with the revaluation model in AASB 116). Any
impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease in accordance with that other Standard.
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of a class of asset, the entity estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash‐generating unit to which the asset belongs.
Impairment testing is performed annually for goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives.
(m) Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables represent the liabilities for goods and services received by the association during the reporting
period that remain unpaid at the end of the reporting period. The balance is recognised as a current liability with the amounts
normally paid within 30 days of recognition of the liability.
(n) Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the association has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for which it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured. Provisions are measured
using the best estimate of the amounts required to settle the obligation at the end of the reporting period.
(o) Employee benefits
Short‐term employee benefits
Provision is made for the association's obligation for short‐term employee benefits. Short‐term employee benefits are
benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly before 12 months after the end of the
annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service, including wages and salaries. Short‐term
employee benefits are measured at the (undiscounted) amounts expected to be paid when the obligation is settled.
The association's obligations for short‐term employee benefits such as wages and salaries are recognised as a part of current
trade and other payables in the statement of financial position.
Other long‐term employee benefits
The association classifies employees' long service leave and annual leave entitlements as other long‐term employee benefits
as they are not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the
employees render the related service. Provision is made for the association's obligation for other long‐term employee
benefits, which are measured at the present value of the expected future payments to be made to employees. Expected
future payments incorporate anticipated future wage and salary levels, durations of service and employee departures, and
are discounted at rates determined by reference to market yields at the end of the reporting period on government bonds
that have maturity dates that approximate the terms of the obligations. Upon the remeasurements of obligations for other
long‐term employee benefits, the net change in the obligation is recognised in profit or loss classified under employee
benefits expense.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(o) Employee benefits (continued)
The association's obligations for long‐term employee benefits are presented as non‐current provisions in its statement of
financial position, except where the association does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12
months after the reporting date, in which case the obligations are presented as current provisions.
(p) Comparative figures
Where required by Accounting Standards, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation
for the current financial year.
When the association retrospectively applies an accounting policy, makes a retrospective restatement or reclassifies items in
its financial statements, a third statement of financial position as at the beginning of the preceding period, in addition to the
minimum comparative financial statements, must be disclosed.
(q) Critical accounting estimates and judgements
The committee evaluate estimates and judgements incorporated into the financial statements based on historical knowledge
and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable expectation of future events and are based on current
trends and economic data, obtained both externally and within the association.
Key estimates
Impairment
The association assesses impairment at each reporting period by evaluating the conditions and events specific to the
association that may be indicative of impairment triggers. Recoverable amount of the relevant assets are reassessed using the
value‐in‐use calculation which incorporates various key assumptions.
Useful lives of property, plant and equipment
The association reviews the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment at the end of each annual reporting
period.
Key judgments
Identifying performance obligations under AASB 15
To identify a performance obligation under AASB 15, the promise must be sufficiently specific to be able to determine when
the obligation is satisfied. Management exercises judgement to determine whether the promise is sufficiently specific by
taking into account any conditions specified in the arrangement, explicit or implicit, regarding the promised goods or services.
In making this assessment, management includes the nature/‐type, cost/‐value, quantity and the period of transfer related to
the goods or services promised.
Determination and timing of revenue recognition under AASB 15
For each revenue stream, the association applies significant judgement to determine when a performance obligation has been
satisfied and the transaction price that is to be allocated to each performance obligation.
With the exception of membership revenue, each of the association's revenue streams transfer a good or service to a
customer at a point in time. Revenue is recognised based on the output method once promised goods or services are
transferred as this represents when the underlying performance obligation has been satisfied.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(q) Critical accounting estimates and judgements (continued)
Lease term and option to extend under AASB 16
The lease term is defined as the non‐cancellable period of a lease together with both periods covered by an option to extend
the lease if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and also periods covered by an option to terminate the
lease if the lessee is reasonably certain not to exercise that option. The options that are reasonably going to be exercised is a
key management judgement that the association will make.
The association determines the likelihood to exercise the options on a lease‐by‐lease basis, looking at various factors such as
which assets are strategic and which are key to future strategy of the association, in addition to the following:
‐ If there are significant penalties to terminate (or not to extend), the association is typically reasonably certain to extend
(or not terminate).
‐ If any leasehold improvements are expected to have a significant remaining value, the association is typically reasonably
certain to extend (or not terminate).
‐ Otherwise, the association considers other factors including historical lease durations and the costs and business
disruption required to replace the leased asset.
The lease agreement for the gaming machines contains clauses which provide the association with the option to either lease
the underlying asset for an additional term of two years, or purchase the electronic gaming machines from the lessor at the
greater of book value and fair market value upon the date of the initial lease term expiry.
As the purchase option value is not yet known, the association has concluded that it is neither likely, nor unlikely, to exercise
either the option to lease the underlying asset for an additional term or exercise the purchase option contained within the
agreement.
As a result, as at 31 December 2019, potential future cash outflows of $1,921,056 (undiscounted) have not been included in
the lease liability. The lease term is reassessed if an option is actually exercised (or not exercised) or the association becomes
obliged to exercise (or not exercise) it. The assessment of reasonable certainty is only revised if a significant event or a
significant change in circumstances occurs, which affects this assessment, and that is within the control of the lessee.
Borrowing rate under AASB 16
The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined,
which is generally the case for the association's leases, the association's incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate
that the association would have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right‐of‐use
asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, security and conditions.
To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the association:
‐ where possible, uses recent third‐party financing received by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect
changes in financing conditions since third party financing was received
‐ makes adjustments specific to the lease, eg term, country, currency and security.
Employee benefits
For the purpose of measurement, AASB 119: Employee Benefits defines obligations for short‐term employee benefits as
obligations expected to be settled wholly before 12 months after the end of the annual reporting period in which the
employees render the related service. The association expects most employees will take their annual leave entitlements
within 24 months of the reporting period in which they were earned, but this will not have a material impact on the amounts
recognised in respect of obligations for employees’ leave entitlements.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(r) New and amended accounting policies adopted during the reporting period
Initial application of AASB 16 Leases
Initial application
The association has adopted AASB 16: Leases retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying AASB 16
recognised at 1 January 2019. In accordance with AASB 16, the comparatives for the 2018 reporting period have not been
restated.
Prior to 1 January 2019, leases of property, plant and equipment were classified as either finance leases or operating leases.
From 1 January 2019, leases are recognised as a right‐of‐use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the group. As a result, finance leases which were previously disclosed as property, plant and
equipment have been reclassified to right‐of‐use assets upon adoption.
The association has recognised a lease liability and right‐of‐use asset for all leases (with the exception of short‐term and low‐
value leases) recognised as operating leases under AASB 117: Leases where the association is the lessee.
The lease liabilities are measured at the present value of the lease payments. The association's incremental borrowing rate as
at 1 January 2019 was used to discount the lease payments.
The right‐of‐use assets for equipment was measured at its carrying amount as if AASB 16 had been applied since the
commencement date, but discounted using the associations' weighted average incremental borrowing rate on 1 January
2019.
The right‐of‐use assets for the remaining leases were measured and recognised in the statement of financial position as at 1
January 2019 by taking into consideration the lease liability and prepaid and accrued lease payments previously recognised at
1 January 2019 (that are related to the lease).
Practical expedients applied
The following practical expedients have been used by the association in applying AASB 16 for the first time:
‐ for a portfolio of leases that have reasonably similar characteristics, a single discount rate has been applied
‐ leases that have remaining lease term of less than 12 months as at 1 January 2019 have been accounted for in the same
way as short‐term leases
‐ the use of hindsight to determine lease terms on contracts that have options to extend or terminate
‐ applying AASB 16 to leases previously identified as leases under AASB 117 and Interpretation 4: Determining whether an
arrangement contains a lease without reassessing whether they are, or contain, a lease at the date of initial application
‐ not applying AASB 16 to leases previously not identified as containing a lease under AASB 117 and Interpretation 4.
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Note 1.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(r) New and amended accounting policies adopted during the reporting period (continued)
Reclassification of lease arrangements
The following summary indicates the reclassification of property, plant and equipment to right‐of‐use asset on 1 January 2019
due to implementation of AASB 16:
Carrying
amount under
AASB 1 1 7
$

Category
Reclassified from:
‐ Property, plant and equipment – leased solar panels

131,129

Reclassified to:
‐ Right‐of‐use asset

‐

Adjustment
$

Carrying
amount under
AASB 16
$

(131,129)
131,129

‐
131,129

Measurement of lease liabilities at 1 January 2019
The association measured lease liabilities at 1 January 2019 as follows:
Description

$

Operating lease commitments disclosed as at 31 December 2018
Add:
‐ finance lease liabilities recognised as at 31 December 2018
‐ contracts reassessed as lease contracts
Less:
‐ variable lease payments excluded from lease liability measurement
Discounted using the lessee's incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application

823,727
130,549
3,134,739
(781,320)
(16,835)

Lease liability recognised as at 1 January 2019

3,290,860

Of which are:
‐ current lease liabilities
‐ non‐current lease liabilities

839,828
2,451,032
3,290,860

The difference between the lease liability ($3,290,860) as at 1 January 2019 and the discounted operating lease commitments
as at 31 December 2018 ($823,727) is $2,467,133. The difference comprises finance leases recognised on 31 December 2018
of $130,549, as well as liability of contracts reassessed as lease contracts of $2,481,443 relating to the association's Gaming
Services Agreement with Tabcorp Gaming Solutions which had historically been assessed differently prior to the adoption of
AASB 16.
The association’s weighted average incremental borrowing rate on 1 January 2019 applied to the lease liabilities was 5%. The
difference between the undiscounted amount of operating lease commitments at 31 December 2018 of $823,727 and the
discounted operating lease commitments as at 1 January 2019 of $806,892 was $16,835, which is due to discounting the
operating lease commitments at the association's incremental borrowing rate.
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Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(r) New and amended accounting policies adopted during the reporting period (continued)
Measurement of right‐of‐use assets at 1 January 2019
The associated right‐of‐use assets for the leased land and buildings and gaming machines were measured at the amount equal
to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognised in the
balance sheet as at 31 December 2018. All other leases of plant and equipment were measured on a simplified basis, where
the right of use asset is equal to the lease liability on transition.
Description

$

Right‐of‐use assets:
‐ At cost
‐ Less accumulated depreciation

3,294,347
(4,093)
3,290,254

Lease liabilities:
‐ Minimum lease payments
‐ Less future finance charges

(3,608,228)
317,368
(3,290,860)

Net adjustment recorded to retained earnings on 1 January 2019

(606)

Impact on the statement of financial position for the year ended 31 December 2019
Right‐of‐use assets:
Initial cost recognised on adoption
Less:
‐ accumulated depreciation on adoption
‐ depreciation expense

3,294,347

Right‐of‐use assets as at 31 December 2019

2,383,365

(4,093)
(906,889)

Lease liabilities:
Initial minimum lease payments recognised on adoption
Add:
‐ finance costs
Less:
‐ lease repayments
‐ future finance charges on adoption

3,608,228

Lease liabilities as at 31 December 2019

2,451,032

145,585
(985,413)
(317,368)
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Note 1.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

(r) New and amended accounting policies adopted during the reporting period (continued)
Impact on the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2019
Revenue and expenditure:

$

Decrease in operating lease expense
Increase in borrowing costs on lease liabilities
Increase in right‐of‐use asset depreciation expense

985,413
(145,585)
(906,889)

Surplus/(Deficit):
Increase/(Decrease) in surplus/(deficit) before income tax expense
Increase/(Decrease) in current income tax expense
Increase/(Decrease) in surplus/(deficit) after income tax expense

(67,061)
‐
(67,061)

Initial application of AASB 15 and AASB 1058
Initial application
The association has applied AASB 15: Revenue from Contracts with Customers (AASB 15) and AASB 1058: Income of Not‐for‐
Profit Entities (AASB 1058) using the full retrospective approach of initially applying AASB 15 and AASB 1058. As the adoption
of AASB 15 and AASB 1058 had no material impact on the association's financial statements, there were no adjustments
required in neither the current or previous reporting period.

Note 2.

Revenue and Other Income

Note

Revenue from contracts with customers
Other sources of revenue

2(a)
2(b)

Total revenue from operating activities

2019
$

2018
$

12,723,767
1,616

11,184,178
5,163

12,725,383

11,189,341

7,806,591
1,563,349
2,860,001
65,453
82,153
26,953
319,267

6,925,901
1,374,225
2,464,912
47,272
70,091
21,200
280,577

12,723,767

11,184,178

12,658,314
65,453

11,136,906
47,272

12,723,767

11,184,178

(a) Disaggregated revenue
The association has disaggregated revenue by type of good/service and
timing of revenue recognition in the following table:
Type of good/service
Gaming revenue
Bar sales
Kitchen sales
Memberships
TAB commissions
Keno commissions
Other income

Timing of revenue recognition
Services transferred to customers:
‐ at a point in time
‐ over time
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Note 2.

Revenue and Other Income (continued)

Note

2019
$

2018
$

(b) Other sources of revenue
Interest received

1,616

5,163

2,748,446
1,341,101
11,912

3,436,605
1,192,104
1,447

4,101,459

4,630,156

221,774

221,876

The association applies the practical expedient in AASB 15.121 and does
not disclose information about remaining performance obligations that
have original expected durations of one year or less.
Note 3.

Surplus for the Year

(a) Expenses
Cost of sales:
‐ Gaming and TAB
‐ Kitchen and Bar
‐ Soldiers Memorial Institute Military Museum gift shop

The adoption of AASB 16 Leases has resulted in a $1,134,115 decrease in
gaming and TAB cost of sales, which has been offset by corresponding
increases in depreciation of right‐of‐use assets, finance charges and
administration costs for non‐lease components relating to the gaming machine
lease arrangement.
Amortisation of gaming machine entitlements
Depreciation of plant and equipment

‐

3,922

Depreciation of right‐of‐use assets:
‐ Leases land and buildings
‐ Leased gaming machines
‐ Leased plant and equipment

178
874,811
31,900

‐
‐
‐

906,889

‐

781,325
10,691

‐
‐

792,016

‐

145,585
4,947

‐
2,981

150,532

2,981

Rental expense on operating leases excluded in lease liability measurement:
‐ variable lease payments
‐ low‐value lease expense

Finance costs:
‐ lease liabilities
‐ other financial liabilities
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Note 3.

Surplus for the Year (continued)

Note

2019
$

2018
$

(b) Significant Items
The following significant income items contained within other income are
relevant in explaining the financial performance:
‐
‐
‐
‐

ATM rebates
Donations received
Raffles
Soldiers Memorial Institute Military Museum entry fees

103,388
9,591
52,493
48,321

88,520
70,543
46,734
3,385

213,793

209,182

41,412
‐
7,445
7,279
84,511
78,915
18,739
20,723
28,914
21,191
20,367

186,157
8,460
11,390
2,061
71,015
69,988
15,702
20,176
16,201
‐
29,532

329,496

430,682

29,725
900
64,931
171,677
112,440

46,355
6,600
42,113
197,455
90,577

379,673

383,100

The following significant expense items contained within other expenses are
relevant in explaining the financial performance:
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

Soldiers Memorial Institute Military Museum costs
Gaming machine entitlements planning and application costs
Committee member expenses
Management and president expenses
Member discounts ‐ bar
Promotions ‐ food
Meeting expenses
Member expenses
Kitchen supplies and minor equipment
Loyalty points redemption
RSL Rewards contribution

The following significant expense items contained within welfare and
charitable expenses are relevant in explaining the financial performance:
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

Commemorative Day expenses
Committee honorarium
RSL Sheds
Subsidised meals
Soldiers Memorial Institute Military Museum employee benefits expense

30

| 22

Bendigo District RSL Sub Branch Inc
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019

Note 3.

Surplus for the Year (continued)

Note

2019
$

2018
$

(c) Soldiers Memorial Institute Military Museum Revenue and Expenses
The following significant income and expense items contained within the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income are relevant in
explaining the financial performance of the Soldiers Memorial Institute
Military Museum:
Other revenue

77,612

73,643

Cost of sales

(11,912)

(1,447)

Gross profit

65,700

72,196

(10,169)
(8,261)
(2,209)
(53,239)
(127,064)
(1,336)
(41,412)

(15,032)
(2,950)
(255)
(9,647)
(102,478)
(306)
(290,214)

Total other expenses

(243,690)

(420,882)

Net operating result

(177,990)

(348,686)

199,440
854,213

179,859
493,021

1,053,653

672,880

Other expenses:
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

Administration expenses
Advertising and promotion costs
Finance costs
Occupancy expenses
Salaries and employee benefits expense
Welfare and charitable expenses
Other expense

Note 4.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

CURRENT
Cash on hand
Cash at bank
16
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Note 5.

Trade and Other Receivables

Note

CURRENT
Trade receivables
Prepayments

2019
$

2018
$

530
1,750

3,727
‐

2,280

3,727

NON‐CURRENT
Loan to Building Patriotic Fund

1,349,626

1,199,626

Total trade and other receivables

1,351,906

1,203,353

530
1,349,626

3,727
1,199,626

1,350,156

1,203,353

66,097

62,414

‐
‐

135,051
(3,922)

‐

131,129

‐

131,129

The loan to the Building Patriotic Fund is an unsecured, interest free loan with
no minimum repayment term.
Financial asset classified as loans and receivables
Trade and other receivables:
‐ total current
‐ total non‐current
16
Note 6.

Inventories

CURRENT
Stock on hand at cost
Note 7.

Property, plant and equipment

NON‐CURRENT
Plant and equipment
At cost
Accumulated depreciation

Total property, plant and equipment
Movements in Carrying Amounts

Movements in carrying amounts for each class of property, plant and equipment between the beginning and end of the
current financial year.
Plant and
equipment
$
131,129
(131,129)
‐

Balance at the beginning of the year
Reclassification to/(from)
Carrying amount at the end of the year

32

Total
$
131,129
(131,129)
‐
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Note 7.

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

As at 31 December 2018, plant and equipment included the following amounts where the association was a lessee under a
finance lease arrangement:
Leased plant and equipment
At cost
Accumulated depreciation

$
135,051
(3,922)
131,129

From 1 January 2019, leased assets are presented as a separate line item in the statement of financial position. Refer to Note
8 for further information regarding such lease arrangements and Note 1 (r) for further information regarding the change in
accounting policy.
Note 8.

Right‐of‐use assets

The association's lease portfolio includes leased gaming machines and plant and equipment. The lease terms for each type of
lease arrangement are:
Class of lease
Leased land and buildings
Leased gaming machines
Leased plant and equipment

Lease term
21 years
10 years
5 years

Options to extend or terminate
The options to extend or terminate are contained in the association's gaming machine lease. These clauses provide the
association opportunities to manage leases in order to align with its strategies. There were no extension options included in
the plant and equipment lease agreements. The extension options or termination options which were probable to be
exercised have been included in the calculation of the right‐of‐use asset. Refer to Note 1 (q) for further information regarding
critical accounting estimates and judgements applied in the determination of the lease term.

(a) AASB 16 related amounts recognised in the balance sheet
Right‐of‐use assets
Leased land and buildings
Accumulated depreciation

Leased gaming machines
Accumulated depreciation

Leased plant and equipment
Accumulated depreciation

33

2019
$

2018
$

1,334
(178)

‐
‐

1,156

‐

3,134,739
(874,811)

‐
‐

2,259,928

‐

158,274
(35,992)

‐
‐

122,282

‐

2,383,366

‐
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Note 8.

Right‐of‐use assets (continued)

The association's lease of land and buildings from the Building Patriotic Fund contains a variable payment term that is not
linked to an index or rate. Variable payment terms are used for a variety of reasons as it enables the Building Patriotic
Fund to charge the association rent to meet its cash flow needs. Such variable lease payments that depend on the
Building Patriotic Fund's cash flow needs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the condition that triggers
those payments occurs.
Movements in carrying amounts
Movements in carrying amounts for each class of right‐of‐use asset between the beginning and the end of
financial year.
Leased plant
Leased
and
gaming
Leased land
equipment
machines
and buildings
$
$
$
Balance at the beginning of year
‐
‐
‐
1,334
3,134,739
23,053
Recognised on initial application of AASB 16
Opening balance transferred from property, plant and
‐
‐
131,129
equipment on initial application of AASB 16
(178)
(874,811)
(31,900)
Depreciation expense
Carrying amount at the end of the year
1,156
2,259,928
122,282
2019
$

(b) AASB 16 related amounts recognised in profit or loss
Depreciation charge related to right‐of‐use assets
Interest expense on lease liabilities
Variable lease payments excluded from lease liability measurement
Low‐value leases expense

Note 9.

the current

Total
$
‐
3,159,126
131,129
(906,889)
2,383,366
2018
$

906,889
145,585
781,325
10,691

‐
‐
‐
‐

1,844,490

‐

Intangible Assets

NON‐CURRENT
Gaming machine entitlements ‐ 2012 to 2022
At cost
Accumulated amortisation

2,179,255
(1,597,724)

2,179,255
(1,375,950)

581,531

803,305

Gaming machine entitlements ‐ 2022 to 2032
At cost

3,307,797

3,307,797

Total intangible assets

3,889,328

4,111,102

The association has Gaming Machine Entitlement licences for 93 machines which were purchased via the Victorian State
Government 'pre auction club offer'. The entitlements are in place for a period of 10 years, expiring in August 2022.
In October 2018 the association received confirmation that it has been allocated new gaming machine entitlements which
take effect in August 2022 and expire in August 2032. A 2.5% deposit for the new entitlements was paid in February 2018,
with a further 2.5% paid in February 2019. The remaining 95% cost of the entitlements will be paid over 28 equal instalments,
with the first being made in August 2022 and the last in May 2029.
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Note 10.

Trade and Other Payables

Note

CURRENT
Trade payables
Sundry payables
Accrued expenses
Other payables (net amount of GST payable)

2019
$

2018
$

165,396
11,969
36,309
213,631

144,077
86,708
26,588
233,261

427,305

490,634

Financial liabilities at amortised cost classified as trade and other payables
Trade payables and other payables:
‐
total current

427,305

490,634

Less other payables (net amount of GST payable)

(213,631)

(233,261)

213,674

257,373

Financial liabilities as trade and other payables
Note 11.

16

Financial Liabilities

CURRENT
Gaming machine entitlements
Lease liability

NON‐CURRENT
Gaming machine entitlements
Lease liability

16

Total financial liabilities
Note 12.

‐
‐

239,044
27,010

‐

266,054

3,142,407
‐

3,142,407
103,539

3,142,407

3,245,946

3,142,407

3,512,000

Lease liabilities

CURRENT
Lease liability
Unexpired interest

NON‐CURRENT
Lease liability
Unexpired interest

Total lease liability
Total unexpired interest
Total present value of lease liabilities

16

35

996,003
(102,258)

‐
‐

893,745

‐

1,626,812
(69,525)

‐
‐

1,557,287

‐

2,622,815
(171,783)

‐
‐

2,451,032

‐

| 27

Bendigo District RSL ANNUAL REPORT 2019 FINANCE

Bendigo District RSL Sub Branch Inc
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019
Note 12.

Lease liabilities (continued)

The lease for the land and buildings, which are considered peppercorn leases as the minimum lease payments are significantly
below fair value, commenced in approximately 2000. One of the lease arrangements has an initial lease term of 21 years,
whilst the other arrangement is extended on an annual basis subject to the satisfaction of both parties. Neither lease
arrangement contains optional terms or purchase options.
The lease for the gaming machines, which commenced in 2012, is financed with Tabcorp Gaming Solutions on a 10‐year term,
with payments required monthly in advance. The lease includes optional terms and purchase options, however as the
association is neither likely nor unlikely to exercise these options, such options have been excluded from the measurement.
The lease for the plant and equipment, each of which commenced during 2018, is financed with Viatek Central Victoria Pty Ltd
and Energy Lease Pty Ltd. The lease agreements contain initial lease terms of five years. The lease agreement for the solar
panels contain a purchase option, which the association is reasonably certain to exercise. The agreements contain no further
purchase options or optional terms.
Note 13.

2019
$

Provisions

CURRENT
Employee benefits ‐ annual leave
Employee benefits ‐ long service leave

2018
$

137,403
47,216

113,448
41,777

184,619

155,225

NON‐CURRENT
Employee benefits ‐ long service leave

124,223

74,934

Total provisions

308,842

230,159

Provision for Employee Benefits
Provision for employee benefits represents amounts accrued for annual leave and long service leave.
The current portion for this provision includes the total amount accrued for annual leave entitlements and the amounts
accrued for long service leave entitlements that have vested due to employees having completed the required period of
service. Based on past experience, the association does not expect the full amount of annual leave or long service leave
balances classified as current liabilities to be settled within the next 12 months.
However, these amounts must be classified as current liabilities since the association does not have an unconditional right to
defer the settlement of these amounts in the event employees wish to use their leave entitlement. The non‐current portion
for this provision includes amounts accrued for long service leave entitlements that have not yet vested in relation to those
employees who have not yet completed the required period of service. In calculating the present value of future cash flows in
respect of long service leave, the probability of long service leave being taken is based upon historical data. The measurement
and recognition criteria for employee benefits have been discussed in Note 1 (o).

36

| 28

Bendigo District RSL Sub Branch Inc
Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended 31 December 2019
Note 14.

Capital and Leasing Commitments

Following the association's adoption of AASB 16: Leases on 1 January 2019, the association no longer distinguishes its lease
arrangements between operating and finance leases.
The association's lease commitments, which are captured under AASB 16, are disclosed at Note 8 and Note 12.
Lease commitments measured under either previous Accounting Standards or those commitments which may meet an
exemption under AASB 16, including their relevant commitments, are disclosed as follows.
2019
$

(a) Finance lease commitments
Payable ‐ minimum lease payments
‐ not later than 12 months
‐ between 12 months and 5 years
‐ greater than 5 years
Minimum lease payments

2018
$
‐
‐
‐

27,010
103,539
‐

‐

130,549

‐
‐
‐

789,705
32,852
1,170

‐

823,727

The financial lease for solar panels, which commenced in 2018, is a 5‐year
lease, with payments required monthly in advance.
(b) Operating lease commitments
Non‐cancellable operating leases contracted for but not capitalised in the
financial statements:
‐ not later than 12 months
‐ between 12 months and 5 years
‐ greater than 5 years

The property lease for the RSL Club situated in Long Gully, Bendigo is
subject to an agreement that is reviewed yearly. The term is no longer
than 12 months at a time.
The property lease for the RSL Memorial Hall was a non‐cancellable lease
with a 21 year term. The lease is restricted to use for the Soldiers
Memorial Institute Military Museum.
The copier and printer lease commitment was a non‐cancellable
operating lease contracted for but not capitalised in the financial
statements with a term of five years, with rent payable monthly in
advance.
(c) Capital expenditure commitments
No capital expenditure commitments were contracted for at year end.
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Note 15.

Cash Flow Information

Note

2019
$

2018
$

Reconciliation of cash flow from operations with surplus after income tax
Surplus after income tax expense
Non‐cash flows in surplus:
‐ Depreciation and amortisation expense
Changes in assets and liabilities:
‐ (Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables
‐ (Increase)/decrease in inventories
‐ Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables
‐ Increase/(decrease) in provisions
Cash flows from operations
Note 16.

467,285

76,568

1,128,663

225,798

1,447
(3,683)
(63,329)
78,683

5,924
(671)
(33,626)
29,047

1,609,066

303,040

1,053,653
1,350,156

672,880
1,203,353

2,403,809

1,876,233

213,674
3,142,407
2,451,032

257,373
3,512,000
‐

5,807,113

3,769,373

300
‐
300
‐
300
‐
‐

800
1,800
1,200
500
1,200
500
600

900

6,600

Financial Risk Management

The association's financial instruments consist mainly of deposits with banks,
accounts receivable and payable, financial liabilities and leases.
The totals of each category of financial instruments, measured in accordance
with AASB 9 detailed in the accounting policies to these financial statements,
are as follows:
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other receivables

4
5

Total financial assets
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
‐ trade and other payables
‐ financial liabilities
‐ lease liabilities

10
11
12

Total financial liabilities
Note 17.

Related Party Disclosures

The association paid an honorarium to the following committee members:
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐
‐

Clifford Richards
David Paynter
Lisa Gellatly
Paul Penno
Peter Swandale
Robert English
Shane Robinson
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Note 17.

Related Party Disclosures (continued)

Note

2019
$

2018
$

The association paid variable lease payments to the Building Patriotic Fund
which is a related entity to the association:
Rental expenses on operating leases

781,325

783,958

Transactions between related parties are on normal commercial terms and conditions no more favourable than those
available to other parties unless otherwise stated.
No committee members have entered into any material contract with the association since the end of the previous financial
year and there were no material contracts involving committee members interests subsisting at year end. There were no
loans to committee members.
Note 18.

Contingent Liabilities and Assets

The association's committee are not aware of any contingent liabilities or assets as at the date of signing this financial report.
Note 19.

Events after the Reporting Period

Subsequent to year‐end, since January 2020, the COVID‐19 Coronavirus has developed and spread globally. Following the
implementation of Federal/State Government social isolation measures on 23 March 2020 to reduce the spread of the virus,
the association was forced to immediately close its premises to the public until further notice.
Such isolation measures have had an adverse impact on the association as it has been unable to trade. The committee have
received no confirmation as to when operations can resume and as such, the committee assume the association will remain in
a form of hibernation for the foreseeable future. These restrictions are therefore expected to have a significant impact on the
association's financial performance and position subsequent to year‐end.
Accordingly, the committee and management have instituted a range of measures to preserve cash flow and secure additional
finance, which are disclosed in further detail at Note 1. Whilst the committee acknowledge the economic impact of the forced
closure represents material uncertainty which cast significant doubt upon the association's ability to continue as a going
concern for the foreseeable future, with continued support from key stakeholders, the committee remain satisfied that the
going concern assumption remains appropriate.
There have been no other events subsequent to the balance sheet date that have an impact that would require disclosure in
the financial statements or notes there of.
Note 20.

Economic Dependency

The association is economically dependant on the continued support of its bankers (ANZ), provision of electronic gaming
machines and the continued occupation of its premises (Building Patriotic Fund). Any change in one or more of the above
would have a significant adverse effect on the associations ability to continue to trade as a going concern.
Note 21.

Association Details

The registered office of the association is:
Bendigo District RSL Sub Branch Inc
73‐75 Havilah Road
Bendigo Vic 3550

The principal place of business is:
Bendigo District RSL Sub Branch Inc
73‐75 Havilah Road
Bendigo Vic 3550
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Bendigo District RSL Sub Branch Inc
Financial Declaration for Responsible Person
The Responsible Persons declare that in the Responsible Persons’ opinion:
a.

there are reasonable grounds to believe that the registered entity is able to pay all of its debts, as and when they
become due and payable; and

b.

the financial statements and notes satisfy the requirements of the Australian Charities and Not‐for‐profits
Commission Act 2012 .

Signed in accordance with subsection 60.15(2) of the Australian Charities and Not‐for‐profit Commission Regulation 2013.

President
P e t e r S wa n d a l e

Treasurer
Sh a n e R o b i n s o n
Dated this

day of

2020
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the Members of Bendigo District RSL Sub‐Branch
Inc
Report on the audit of the financial statements
Our opinion

In our opinion:
The accompanying financial report of Bendigo District RSL Sub‐Branch Inc, is in accordance with the
Australian Charities and Not‐for‐profits Commission Act 2012, including:
i.

giving a true and fair view of the association's financial position as at 31 December 2019 and of its
performance for the year ended on that date and
ii. complying with Australian Accounting Standards ‐ Reduced Disclosure Requirements.

Material uncertainty over going concern

Without modifying our audit opinion, we draw the reader’s attention to Note 1 to the financial statements
which discloses that the association has a working capital deficiency at 31 December 2019, with current
liabilities of $1,505,696 being greater than current assets of $1,122,030.
This matter, combined with the financial impacts of the Federal/State Government’s social isolation
measures introduced subsequent to year‐end in response to the global spread of the COVID‐19 coronavirus,
which forced the indefinite closure of the association’s premises on 23 March 2020, indicate the existence of
a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt as to the association’s ability to continue as a going
concern.
The association is economically dependent on receiving continued financial support from key
stakeholders throughout the foreseeable future, including its landlord, major suppliers, banker and the
Federal Government. Without such continued support, the association may be unable to realise its assets
and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business.

What we have audited

Bendigo District RSL Sub‐Branch Inc (the association) financial report comprises the:







statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year then ended
statement of changes in equity for the year then ended
statement of cash flows for the year then ended
notes comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, and
the certification by members of the committee that the annual statements give a true and fair view of
the financial position of the association.
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Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report section
of our report.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.

Other information

The association may prepare an annual report that may include the financial statements, committee’s report
and declaration and our audit report (the financial report). The annual report may also include “other
information” on the entity’s operations and financial results and financial position as set out in the financial
report, typically in a Chairperson’s report and reports covering governance and other matters.
The committee members are responsible for the other information. An annual report has not been made
available to us as of the date of this auditor's report.
Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and accordingly we will not express
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
Our responsibility is to read the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial report or our
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If we identify that a material inconsistency appears to exist when we read the annual report (or become
aware that the other information appears to be materially misstated), we will discuss the matter with the
committee members and where we believe that a material misstatement of the other information exists, we
will request management to correct the other information.

Independence

We are independent of the association in accordance with the auditor independence requirements of the
Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia. We have also fulfilled our other
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

Committee’s responsibility for the financial report

The committee of the association is responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true
and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards ‐ Reduced Disclosure Requirements and
the Australian Charities and Not‐for‐profits Commission Act 2012and for such controls as the committee
determines is necessary to enable preparation of the financial report that is free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the financial report, the committee is responsible for assessing the association’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the committee either intend to liquidate the association or cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibility for the audit of the financial report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatement can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this
financial report.
A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the Auditing and
Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/home.aspx. This description forms part of
our auditor’s report.

Andrew Frewin Stewart
61 Bull Street, Bendigo, 3550
Dated this 8th day of May 2020

Adrian Downing
Lead Auditor
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Welfare & Charitable
It was a mixed period for the Welfare & Charitable SubCommittee in 2019. Unfortunately, Paul Penno stepped down
from his roles as Chair and Welfare Officer after many years
of great service. Subsequently, Stafford Kelly stepped down
due to an accident which left a gap and as President, I filled
the role until a suitable replacement could be found.
The main focus of the Welfare & Charitable Sub-Committee
was to ensure we assist the Sub-Branch with their primary
goal of supporting all veterans, those serving and exservice personnel of the ADF and their dependents with

Drawing on these figures, it is interesting but not surprising

the available welfare resources of the BDRSL. This was

that DVA assistance, mental health and social connection

certainly a challenge as we had a few retirements from the

are the key areas that veterans and dependents are seeking

Sub-Committee and our numbers were depleted.

support for. It also highlights the areas that the BDRSL

My first aim was to seek some new and motivated volunteers

needs to acknowledge and ensure the most effective and
appropriate resources are available to assist. The welfare and

who could support this Sub-Committee and I am pleased to

charitable domain is ever changing but with the support of

say that we now have a full complement of members who

our volunteers and paid staff we will face these challenges

are passionate in supporting veterans and their dependents.

together to ensure the BDRSL changes the lives of our

I would like to take this opportunity to thank all those who
remained and all those who come onboard in 2019. Without

veterans and their dependents.

your support we could not have achieved so much in the

In late 2019 we saw a major review into the purpose and

veteran support domain.

framework of the Welfare & Charitable Sub-Committee,

With the introduction of the Health & Wellbeing Officer,

particularly in relation to Home & Hospital Visit and Funeral
Programmes. Although still ongoing, the Sub-Committee is

the veteran landscape for which the BDRSL operates has

working hard to define the roles and responsibilities and I

changed significantly. Figure 1 outlines the different types of

believe these changes will enhance our capability to support

direct veteran engagements provided in 2019 totalling 380.
This is a significant jump compared to 2018 and quantifies

and honour our veterans and their dependents.

the main effort that the BDRSL has and will achieve.

In closing, I am pleased to announce that Nathan ClarkeHong has agreed to step into the Welfare & Charitable Sub-

Requested Support

Committee Chair and I look forward to working with Nathan

Emergency

22

Financial
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Other

9

Social Connection

56

Peter Swandale

Mental Health Support

57

Welfare & Charitable Sub-Committee Chair

DVA Assistance

59

Accommodation

23

Health & Wellbeing Activities
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 RSL Sheds $64,931

Health

14

 Support Other Sub-Branches $8,649

Employment

7

 Health & Wellbeing Programmes $7,970
Welfare & Charitable Expenses 2019 Total $888,716

Workplace Veteran Support

6

 SMIMM $243,689

Government Entitlements

10

RSL Utilities Use

4

Household Services

8

Home & Hospital Visit

11

Volunteering

4

Legal referral
Grand Total

3
380

and all the Welfare & Charitable team in 2020. We must always
strive to do more for our veterans and their dependents.

Welfare & Charitable Expenses 2019 Total $888,716

 Other W&C Expenses $238,727
 Poppetthead Day Club $14,056
 Subsidised Meals $136,854
 Birthday Vouchers $37,375
 Expenses WPF B86 $136,461
NB: Refer to Notes and Statements.

Figure 1
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RSL Sheds

Poppetthead Day Club

Support Other Sub-Branches

Subsidised Meals

Health & Wellbeing Programmes

Birthday Vouchers

SMIMM

Expenses WPF B86

Other W&C Expenses

Health & Wellbeing
Last April I was appointed to take up the role of Health &
Wellbeing Officer of the Bendigo District RSL, a completely
new position but one that enables the BDRSL to be best
positioned to support our veteran community.
So, what is this Health & Wellbeing Officer supposed to do?
The role involves working to uphold the BDRSL’s mission,
priorities, core values and policies and procedures, to provide
information and assistance to the veteran community. I am
to establish and maintain links with local health care service
providers, assist in the recruitment and training of volunteers
and work closely with welfare officers and other health care
coordinators to support the needs of our veteran community.

•

Family Bowling Night

•

Veterans Indoor Golf Night

I work out of the temporary office at the rear of BDRSL,
Havilah Road, positioned here as the initial point of contact
for veterans seeking support through the BDRSL and through
that initial contact, determine what needs are required and
feed that information to the Welfare & Charitable Committee.

•

Veterans Rowing programme

•

Veterans’ Health Week Expo

•

CrossFit Hero Workout

•

Health Mind Information session

Within the role I am also to provide advice and education to
promote good health and fitness to the veteran community,
enabling them to achieve and possess a level of wellness,
necessary to enhance their lifestyles which includes
development and management of health & wellbeing activities
and campaigns.

•

Veteran Welfare Information session

Supporting the veteran community is a task that the BDRSL
and I do not take lightly and we want to continue to build on
the momentum from 2019 and provide services and support
that are evidence-based, tailored and inclusive for the entire
veteran community.

The BDRSL saw rapid growth and development in the veteran
support space through 2019 and was able to provide advice
and support to veterans and other ESO groups from around
Australia and overseas. Supporting these requests meant
we had the honour of actively changing lives and creating
positive impact on veterans and their families.

In November we introduced a new BDRSL Veterans Support
Facebook Page.
I encourage and challenge all members to get on board and
participate in supporting the wider veteran community where
possible. Begin to take ownership of our local veteran space
to promote the growth of a stronger veteran community
here at the BDRSL to ensure future veterans are engaged
and supported. Moving through 2020, I am keen to see the
continued growth of veteran support services offered to our
local veteran community and the continued building of the
foundation for veteran support into the future.

Throughout 2019 the BDRSL provided opportunities for
veterans and families to engage and connect through numerous
health & wellbeing programmes and events which included:
•

Weekly Yoga classes

•

Equine Therapy Open day

•

Veterans Air Pistol programme

•

Float Therapy

Craig Hancock
Health & Wellbeing Officer
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Appeals
The Appeals team of volunteers, again expertly led by Maurie
Betts, had another great year in 2019.
The ANZAC and Poppy Appeals raised a combined total
of $119,436 – an increase of just over $2,000 on the 2018
Appeals. The success of the team is even more impressive
when you remember that the ANZAC Appeal coincided with
the Royal Children’s Hospital Good Friday Appeal and the
Poppy Appeal was carried out in pretty diabolical weather for
the majority of the period.
magnificent job of raising $2000 in a single day at the Market
Place during the Poppy Appeal and a local gym manager who
planned, organised and ran a very successful campaign to
raise $1,867 at his gym during the Poppy Appeal.
Each year we lose volunteers through age, sickness and
relocation. The average age of those remaining is easily
in the 60’s. Hopefully some of the younger members of
our community can find the time to replace our dwindling
volunteer numbers by donating 4 to 8 hours, sometime during
a 10 to 12-day appeal period once or twice each year.
On a sadder note, after many years
working tirelessly for weeks on-end to

As always, all veterans and their families should be thankful

organise, manage and close-off each

to all those people who donate their time and effort to man

appeal, Maurie Betts has regretfully

the selling locations. Thanks also to the mobile selling teams,

decided that it is time he took a rest

Friends and Family of 2/22 Lark Force and the Vietnam

from the unbelievably demanding role

Veterans who provide the facilities and a fair chunk of the

of Appeals Coordinator for a while.

‘people-power’ to set-up and sustain the appeals campaign.

Maurie, thanks to you and Wendy for all

Not forgotten are the volunteers who collect throughout

your dedication, generosity and diligence – you’ll be greatly

the industrial estates, the greater Bendigo area and the

missed.

businesses and groups that kindly permit us to use their
premises as ‘selling locations’. In addition, special thanks

Thanks again to all those who provided their time and energy

to the many schools, shops and organisations that display

to raising money to help others. For those that haven’t yet

honesty boxes for us every year and to those people who

been in a position to assist, it would be great if you could find

each year make a substantial monetary donation without

even a couple of hours to help during one of our upcoming

seeking any publicity.

Appeals in 2020 and beyond.

Among the many who kindly made the effort to help with the

Carl Chirgwin

appeals, of particular note were the teams who collected

Chairperson

funds around the streets, the Naval Cadets who did a

Appeals Sub-Committee
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Commemorative
In August 2019, I was appointed chair of the Commemorative
Activities Sub-Committee and first off, I would like to thank
David Dixon for his time as Chair and his ongoing support for
Commemorative Services.
There was an ongoing increase in the number of general public
attendance and paying their respects at commemorative
services during the year. In February, we remembered the
Darwin Defenders with a commemorative service held at the
BDRSL.

Many services were held during 2019 some growing in

The Sandakan Commemoration was conducted on behalf of

numbers and some declining. As such, the Commemorative

the Sub-Branch by the Post 1975 Veterans Central Victoria.

Activities Sub-Committee held the large services, such as

The guest speaker was Pamela Wells, whose late husband,

ANZAC Day and Remembrance Day at the Soldiers Memorial

Lieutenant Roderick Wells, was captured by the Japanese.

Institute Military Museum while smaller commemoration

Pamela’s speech was moving and well received by the large

services and wreath-laying only services were held at the

number of attendees.

BDRSL Memorabilia Gardens. It is envisaged that this
approach will continue.

A special thank you goes out to Sherri Burke, Glenn Ludeman
and the Post 75 Veterans for all their time and effort to enable
this service to take place.
Pre ANZAC Services were again a great success in 2019 and
as co-ordinator of these, I would like to acknowledge the
passing of Eric Newman who spent many hours over many
years dedicating his time to those in aged care facilities and
hospitals, ensuring our elderly had their own special ANZAC
Day.

President Swandale has spent numerous hours in designing

Over 30 volunteers assisted, consisting of MCs, guest

and planning a memorial to be constructed in the BDRSL

speakers, buglers, pipers, pianists and students. In addition,

Memorabilia Gardens which will be a point of focus whilst

Lois Newman, Pat Petri and the team spent many hours

people pay their respects and will be sure to enhance the

making up the rosemary and flags for Pre ANZAC and ANZAC

commemoration service experience.

Day. Thank you to all pre-ANZAC-volunteers.

In closing, I extend a big thank you to the Commemorative

ANZAC Day 2019 was again well attended. Guest speaker,

Activities Sub-Committee volunteers who dedicate their time

Group Captain Paul Scott, Royal Australian Navy, delivered

and passion to ensure each commemorative service honours

a moving speech. Thank you to RSM Greg Westhead, MC

those who fought and paid the ultimate sacrifice to Australia

Jonathan Ridnell, CSMs, Rod Pinder, the Commemorative

and to all those that have and continue to serve.

Guard and nurses and all those involved for their ongoing
commitment and many hours of volunteering to ensure that

Lisa Gellatly

the BDRSL once again delivered a reflective ANZAC Day

Chairperson

service to the Bendigo community.

Commemorative Activities Sub-Committee
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Soldiers Memorial Institute
Military Museum
As Chairman of the Soldiers Memorial Institute Military
Museum (SMIMM) Sub-Committee, it is my privilege to
present this report to you and acknowledge the efforts of
Curator Kirsten McKay for providing the bulk of the content,
including the impressive figures and comments.
It is also important to acknowledge the role of the commercial
operation and management of the BDRSL in supporting our
fantastic Museum. Without this support our operation would
not be possible in its present form.

His art and life during the Second World War. All exhibitions

The SMIMM Sub-Committee consisting of Peter Ball, Kym

had aspects which highlighted central Victorian experience in

Levett, Pam Keown, Peter Polwarth, Gary Moar, Paul Hopes,

military conflict.

Jonathan Ridnell, Andrew Turner and Cliff Richards OAM is

Our daily flag display draws a lot of attention and helps to

nearing the end of its first year. It has been a challenge for

attract visitors to the SMIMM entrance when open. Each day,

the Sub-Committee to come to terms with and deal with the

the Australian flag is accompanied by a selected national

challenges that confronted them and I acknowledge we are a
work in progress.

or military organisation’s flag. Some of the flags highlighted

We are most fortunate to have the skills, passion and

Red Cross and the RAAF. As you pass the Soldiers Memorial

through the programme have been USA, United Kingdom,

dedication of our SMIMM staff who have been very ably

Institute, keep an eye out as we highlight important dates

supported by a magnificent group of volunteers without

throughout the year by display of flags.

whom the SMIMM could not function.

Paul Penno

The SMIMM has had an exciting and successful relaunch

Chairperson

achieving an impressive year in governance, cataloguing,

Soldiers Memorial Institute

display maintenance, visitor hosting and tour guiding. Total

Military Museum Sub-Committee

volunteer hours were 6,788 for the year. Well done to everyone
involved!
Thanks to the work of the SMIMM staff and volunteers we
have been able to catalogue a further 1,000 objects, host over
12,000 visitors including 34 school groups and 61 guided
tours along with holding 25 morning teas. The SMIMM has
presented five temporary exhibitions and hosted 16 events.
The SMIMM generated over $95K in revenue.
Continually, we receive fabulous feedback from our visitors
such as, ‘This was the most marvelous experience – such
heart & soul to present our history in such a meaningful way!
Congratulations.’ and ‘Beautifully done and lots of touching
(and sad) stories. Lest we forget.’
A strength in our visitor and education programmes has been
the collaboration with local events such as the Bendigo Writers
Festival. Bendigo Heritage Uncorked and the Bendigo Open
House. As well as showcasing our permanent displays, the
SMIMM has developed and promoted temporary exhibitions
including Sarah Wood - Avenues of Honour photographic
exhibition, Perspective: SMIMM collection with Susan
McMinn, Many Such As She: Australian Victorian Poets of
World War One with Michael Sharkey and Colin Colahan:
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RSL Sheds
During 2019 there were 6250 attendances to the Sheds
programme. My assumption is that the BDRSL Sheds
forefathers got it right and built a solid foundation for this
programme to provide future growth for the wellbeing of past,
present and future members.
On 14th May 2019 our RSL Life Member Bob English,
resigned from the position of Sheds Coordinator and I was
humbled to have been elected to replace him. Reflecting on
prior years, I believe that Bob was grooming me for this role.

Peter Swandale to General Manager Martin Beekes and the

The annual Christmas party which was attended by 115
members was held on 19th December. During this function,
the annual awards were presented to Ron Dudley who
was awarded the BRIGHT SPARK award, Bob English
was awarded the HORSES A@#$ award and Appreciation

administration team has allowed the transition between Bob

Certificates were given to Sandra Paynter and Robert Milton.

The Service and Affiliate shed members are all treated
collectively as members within the BDRSL Sheds family
structure. The support and respect towards me from President

and I to maintain the status quo of the Sheds Programme.

Paul Deipenau

Each past Sheds Coordinator has left a footprint, raising

Coordinator

the standard of the Sheds. I will follow suit to ensure future

RSL Sheds Sub-Committee

growth and prosperity to our wonderful Sheds Programme.
Since extensions and refurbishment were undertaken,
the computer room has greatly enhanced our members’
capabilities. This area is a hive of activity with members doing
research and general educational computer activities.
In late October, the CFA Education Unit of the Bendigo
area with assistance of the Sheds Programme received the
second helicopter which will be housed in the Melton CFA
Zone. This allows the CFA to cover both their areas North
and South of their controlled zone. The first helicopter named
Rosie, has been very popular and the CFA receives bookings
for Rosie to attend events every week. Due to the popularity
of Rosie, the Sheds had to give two months’ notice to the
CFA for Rosie to attend the BDRSL Twilight Market!
The vegetable patch for the benefit of all at the Sheds has
grown into a very productive food resource even though some
members have boiled parsnip leaves thinking it was celery!
During the year, Kevin Sam White and Ken Dellar passed
away and they are greatly missed.
Eight outings / trips were organised throughout the year that
were well patronised by 254 members of various groups
which created a humorous social interaction.
The Wallace’s once again opened their home in Derrinal to host
a Sheds get-together which afforded the Sheds members the
opportunity to meet and get to know each other. This proved
to be a very successful and enjoyable event as 64 members
attended on the day.
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Post 1975 Veterans
Central Victoria
President: Glenn Ludeman
Vice President: Bruce McClure			
Secretary: Sherri Burke
Welfare Information Officer: John McIlwraith
Events/Social Officer: Will Bailey
Post 75 has been very busy with commemorative events,
activities and supporting veterans and their families
throughout 2019. Opportunities for activities have been
sought that involve families and friends as well as attracting
many new members.

The group has continued to attract new members and our
committee has worked hard arranging opportunities for all to
be involved. The new members are also joining the BDRSL.
Our Secretary was instrumental in arranging another very
successful

Sandakan

Commemoration

and

maintains

our Post 1975 Veterans Facebook page. In addition,
Sherri undertakes numerous administrative tasks for our
group. Thankyou Sherri and many others for assisting with
this.
A special thank you to the BDRSL Committee and members
who supported our group and provided mentoring and
guidance. Our mid-year and end of year events have been a
huge success and enabled families to be able to get together
in a social environment. Thank you also to the Vietnam
Veterans Association (Bendigo) that has allowed us to share
Activities facilitated by the Bendigo District RSL Sub-Branch

their “Shed” for our monthly meetings.

such as Christmas in July and our end of year function remain
popular. Indoor golf, yoga, family bowling night and other

Last but not least, thank you to the partners and families of

health and wellbeing events were well attended.

our group for their patience and understanding whilst we
have been caught up in our Post 1975 Veterans meetings

Commemorative events such as Sandakan, Anzac Day,

and activities.

Peacekeeping Day and Remembrance Day were highlights
that involved many of our members and their families.

Glenn Ludeman

Assisting the schools, hospitals, aged care villages and other

President - Post 1975 Veterans Central Victoria

visits for the pre-Anzac Day services involved many members.
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Functions
The Functions Department continues to expand at a rapid
rate and undertake new challenges like the first Indoor
Market and our BIGGEST ever Twilight Market with almost 70
stallholders. This year we saw a rise in community functions
that we were thrilled to be able to assist with.
We look forward to another successful year of functions
and encourage you to contact our Functions Department on
5442 2950 or functions@bendigorsl.com.au for all of your
upcoming function needs. If you are looking to celebrate a
special occasion, book your function with us and let us take
care of the arrangements and cleaning!
Since the 2018 renovations, the Functions Department is
back in full operation and enjoyed another successful year.
During 2019 we hosted:
•

Five Wedding Receptions

•

Four Engagement Parties

•

Wine & Dine Night

•

Outdoor Twilight Market

•

Indoor Market

•

Volunteers Appreciation Afternoon

•

Committee & Life Members Dinner

•

Annual Dinner

•

Bendigo Health - Shine a Light Ball

•

SES North West Region Awards Dinner

•

Loddon Valley Football Netball League Gala Dinner

•

Sporting Awards Presentation Dinners
o

Inglewood Football Netball Club

o

Bridgewater Football Netball Club

o

Bendigo Cricket Club

o

Golden City Soccer Club

•

Eaglehawk North Primary School Graduation Ceremony

•

Bendigo Fire Brigade Annual Dinner

•

Kangaroo Flat Fire Brigade Annual Dinner

•

38th Battalion Annual Luncheon

•

Ex-Naval men’s Association Annual Dinner

•

Air Force Cadets Dining in Night

•

Victoria Police Conferences

•

Training Sessions

•

Birthday Parties

•

Baby Showers

•

Wedding Anniversaries

•

Bus Tour Groups

•

Numerous Christmas Parties

Leigh Lewis
Functions Manager
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Social Tennis
I am pleased to report that the BDRSL tennis complex is now
fitted out with a functional Tennis Club room with all amenities
including air-conditioning, carpet, tables and chairs and is a
real asset to the club.
The four courts have all been resurfaced, providing a great
surface to play on.
Recently we have been approached by a professional tennis
coach to utilise our courts for the purpose of teaching people
how to play the game. An appropriate fee for access to the
courts has been negotiated by BDRSL management.
Unfortunately, we no longer have competitive teams operating
from our courts however we do have a men’s and ladies
social tennis operating on Monday, Wednesday and Friday
mornings for men and Wednesday mornings for the ladies.
We are always keen to attract new members to our ranks of
social tennis players. Any persons interested in joining with
us to be involved in this great, friendly social environment can
leave their contact details at the Customer Service Desk at
the BDRSL, Havilah Road.
The tennis courts are available to all BDRSL members and
their friends for a social hit during daylight hours. Simply
present your membership card to the staff at the bar inside
the BDRSL and sign for the key to the courts.
Paul Penno
Coordinator - Social Tennis Programme
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Volunteer Graph
Monthly Grand Totals
Starting: January 2019
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Achievements
Life Membership
Peter Ball
Stephen Burke
Robert H English
John Edward Fay-Widdison
Robert Harrison
Paul Penno
Murray Poustie
Clifford Anthony Richards, OAM
William James Norman Smart

Sub-Branch Initiatives During 2019
•

Provided meals and travel to service members.

•

Provided subsidised meals for the Bendigo Community totalling $171,677

•

Provided 21 Pre-ANZAC Day Services to nursing homes and hospitals

•

Provided 10 Pre-ANZAC Day services to schools and colleges within the region.

•

Conducted dawn and morning ANZAC Day services in Eaglehawk and Bendigo

•

Conducted Remembrance Day services in Eaglehawk and Bendigo

•

Conducted commemorative services for Bendigo’s various Ex-Service organisations

•

Supported local and kindred Ex-Service Organisations to achieve the objects of their individual organisations

•

Continued our partnerships with the City of Greater Bendigo, Bendigo Business Council, & Bendigo Tourism.

•

Continued support of the RSL Sheds Programme & introduction of evening sessions

•

RSL Sheds - haircuts for veterans

•

Purchased BART Emergency Response App for Mandurang CFA

•

Continued Support of the Central Victorian Veterans’ Support Centre

•

$132K renovation of the Sub-Branch kitchen

•

Employment of a Sub-Branch Health & Wellbeing Officer (H&WO)

•

Support the objectives and programmes created for/by the H&WO

•

Implementation of numerous Health & Wellbeing programmes

•

Implementation of Health & Wellbeing veteran / family nights

•

Raffle prizes for school fetes & fund raising

•

$25K re-sealing & painting of the BDRSL Tennis Courts

•

Completion of External Fencing of the BDRSL Havilah Road property

•

First ever Wine & Dine Night

•

First Indoor Market

•

Biggest ever Twilight market

•

Gave away our first Hyundai car as part of the “post renovation” celebrations

•

Annual Dinner

•

Christmas Present Appeal for Bendigo Health Foundation

•

Committee Life Member Dinner

•

Hall of Fame Awards

•

CCV Awards

•

Veterans’ Health Week Expo

•

Volunteer Week – afternoon tea for volunteers
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Sponsorships & Donations
Central Victorian Veterans’ Support Centre

Inglewood Football Netball Club Inc.

Bendigo Special Developmental School

Nationals - Aust. Dance Championships

Leukaemia Foundation – World’s Greatest Shave - sponsor

Victorian Rifle Association

Brooke Browning

St Killian’s Parents and Friends

Donation to Gallipoli Youth Cup - Youth of Tomorrow

Ironbark Trading Company

Kirsten McKay – study tour

Sporting Shooters Assoc. of Australia (Bendigo Branch)

Whiskeys Wish Inc.

Bendigo Easter Fair Society

Foundation Charitable Trust

Kangaroo Flat RSL

Backpacks 4 Vic Kids

Heathcote RSL

Bendigo Blue Light Inc.

Clan McLeod Pipe Band

Youth of Tomorrow

Bendigo Christmas Concert

Victorian Rifle Association

Bendigo City Football Club

East Loddon P-12 College

Golden City Pipe Band

Cancer Council of Victoria – Relay for Life

Bendigo South East Secondary College

BDRSL Edinburgh Shield Bowls Team

City of Greater Bendigo Brass Band

BDRSL Eaglehawk Edinburgh Shield Team

Bendigo Youth Choir

Central Victorian Eightball Association

Marist Brass Band

PTSD Awareness Baton Ride

Sing Australia Choir Bendigo

Bendigo Cricket Club

St John of God Hospital

RSL Womens Council of Victoria

Bendigo Visitors Centre Volunteers

Eaglehawk Citizens Brass Band

Eaglehawk Public School

RSL (Vic) AWM Last Post

Inglewood Public School

Australian Navy Cadets

Neangar Club Gold Club

Partisans Australia

Bendigo Pistol Club

Bendigo Health Intensive Care Auxiliary

St Theresa’s Primary School

Gurkha Welfare Trust

Bendigo Weight Lifting Club

Bendigo Jockey Club

Big Hill Public School

Mandurang CFA

Cancer Council Morning Tea

Bendigo VRI Bowling Club

Bendigo Agricultural Show Society

Poppetthead Day Club

California Gully Public School

Victorian 7-a-side Paralympic Team Program

Soldiers Memorial Institute Military Museum Operational
Costs

Sandhurst Cricket Club
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Vale 2019
COOKE, Frank Anthony

A56433

RAAF		 09/01/2019

STACPOOLE, Kevin Francis

0219698

RAAF		 14/01/2019

DALY, James Charles

VX502694

ARMY		 24/01/2019

ROCKES, Leonard John

VX96408

ARMY

11/02/2019

LEHEY, Audrey Eileen

104275

RAAF

14/02/2019

HILL, John Ashley

A39244

RAAF

21/03/2019

QUAIL (nee Ward), Joyce Lavinia

174425

RAAF

17/04/2019

WHITE, Kevin

3748770

ARMY		 23/05/2019

MANLY, Arthur Thomas

431130

RAAF		 04/07/2019

PAULSEN, Raymond William

3/740039

ARMY

10/07/2019

McKINNON, Allen James

157410

RAAF

22/07/2019

BARNDEN, Maxwell William

PM8266

NAVY

22/07/2019

WHITTING, George Marcus

10815

RAAF

28/07/2019

LEMPRIERE, John Maxwell

14550

RAAF

13/08/2019

McGENNISKIN, Kevin James

3/723468

ARMY		 28/08/2019

DOUGLAS, Ian Russell

3758108

ARMY		 23/09/2019

HOLMES, Alan William

V245166
VX124730
3162111

ARMY		 05/10/2019

COMMERFORD, Christopher Alfred

317774

ARMY		 05/10/2019

SONEGO, James Maxwell

3790184

ARMY		 11/10/2019

SANTON, Bruce Arthur

A310246
3137237

RAAF		 13/10/2019
ARMY

RICHARDSON, Donald Herbert

A312432

RAAF		 19/10/2019

PARKINSON, Brian Vincent

3/717076

ARMY		 29/10/2019

ROBERTS, Maxwell James

125641

RAAF		 04/11/2019

CLOUGH, Graeme Harold

39107

ARMY		 16/11/2019

QUALTROUGH, Alan Henry

V246302

ARMY		 18/11/2019

WATERS, Dennis James

39987

ARMY		 21/11/2019

TAYLOR, Francis McCoy

VX103736
V245164

ARMY		 31/12/2019
LEST WE FORGET
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